COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2014 DEC 22 AM 9: 21

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 46162-5-II

THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION TWO

MIGUEL A. ALBARRAN,

Appellant,

٧.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR CLARK COUNTY

The Honorable Barbara D. Johnson, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES R. DIXON Attorney for Appellant

Dixon & Cannon, Ltd. 601 Union Street, Suite 3230 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 957-2247

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The court erred in suppressing evidence relating to a vibrator, where that evidence was necessary to explain how the appellant's DNA was transferred to the complaining witness.
- 2. The court erred in suppressing evidence that the State's key witness assaulted the appellant out of anger and jeal-ousy.
- 3. The court erred is suppressing evidence that the State's key witness used a GPS tracker to follow appellant to another woman's house, and then assaulted appellant in front of that woman.
- 4. The court erred in not allowing cross-examination relating to statements the key witness made about appellant on her Facebook page.
- 5. The court erred in not granting the defense motion to dismiss the charge of rape in the second degree.
- 6. The court erred in giving jury instructions 14, 15, and 16, which all related to the charge of rape in the second degree.
- 7. The court erred in entering judgment against the defendant for rape in the second degree, rather than the more specific crime of rape of a child in the second degree.

<u>Issues Pertaining to the Assignments of Error</u>

- 1. The only person who claimed to have witnessed appellant commit this offense was appellant's live-in girlfriend. The defense theory was that the girlfriend was intensely jealous, and would often fly into assaultive rages as a result of appellant's sexual infidelity. She had even used a GPS tracker to follow appellant to the home of another woman, and then assaulted him there in front of the other woman. The court excluded most of this evidence, however, and only allowed more general questions about bias as opposed to specific acts. Did the court's ruling violate appellant's Sixth Amendment right to confront a key witness with evidence of bias and motive?
- 2. T.P. was 13 ½ years old at the time of this incident. She lived in the house with appellant and her mom. The State relied upon the appellant's DNA that was found around T.P.'s vaginal area. In order to explain the presence of the DNA, the defense sought to introduce evidence that appellant and T.P.'s mom regularly used a vibrator together in intimate moments, and that T.P. had access to the drawer where the vibrator was stored. The trial court, however, excluded all mention of the vibrator. As a result, the jury was not presented with any alternative to the State's theory.

Did the trial court violate defendant's right to present a defense when it excluded this crucial evidence?

3. A child under the age of sixteen is incapable of consenting to sex. The crime of rape of a child is committed when a defendant has sexual intercourse with a child. The more general crime of rape in the second degree is committed when a defendant has sexual intercourse with any person incapable of giving consent. Did the trial court violate the general/special statute doctrine when it entered judgment for the general crime of second degree rape?

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. <u>Procedural Facts</u>

The Clark County Prosecutor charged Miguel Albarran with one count of child molestation in the second degree, alleged to have occurred on April 1, 2013. CP 1. The alleged victim was listed as T.P., who was 13 years old at the time. *Id.* Mr. Albarran entered a plea of not guilty, and the office of public defense assigned David Kurtz to represent him.

In response to Mr. Albarran setting the case for trial, the State amended the Information to add three additional charges. This included rape of a child in the second degree, 2) attempted rape of a child in the second degree, 3) rape in the second degree

(incapable of consent prong), and 4) child molestation in the second degree. CP 21-24. The State also alleged three sentence aggravators: violation of a position of trust, invasion of the victim's privacy, and victim less than 15 years old. *Id.*

A jury trial began on January 13, 2014. On January 13, 2014, a jury found Mr. Albarran guilty of all four counts, and all three aggravating factors. CP 31-34, 52-55. At sentencing, the defense argued that "rape of a child" is the more specific statute, while "rape in the second degree" under the unable to consent prong is the more general statute. Accordingly, the conviction for rape in the second degree should be dismissed under the general/specific doctrine. RP 39-47. The judge disagreed and imposed sentence on the conviction for rape in the second degree. RP 484-943; CP 48-62. By statute, the court was required to impose a mandatory 25year sentence on the rape in the second degree conviction, given the jury finding that the victim was under the age of 15. RCW 9.94A.507; RCW 9.94A.837; RP 494; CP 39-47. Upon joint motion of the parties, the trial court dismissed the other three convictions based on double jeopardy concerns. RP 473; CP 39-47. Mr. Albarran filed a timely appeal. CP 63.

2. <u>Trial Testimony</u>

Miguel Albarran and Denise Domke began dating in 2010. RP 260. When they first met, Miguel worked for Denise as part of her office staff. Miguel transferred to a different department so that Denise would not be supervising him. *Id.*

Although the relationship was a good one in many ways, Miguel was not faithful. He had multiple affairs with other women while he was together with Denise. RP 343. Even when Miguel moved in with her, he continued to sleep with other women. RP 361, 243. This created a great deal of stress. Denise would become angry; they would fight, split up, he would apologize, and then they would get back together. RP 265. Denise described it as an on and off relationship. RP 261.

Denise had a daughter (referred to as "T.P." herein) who was born on December 4, 1999. RP 54. Although Miguel was not T.P.'s biological father, he acted like a father nonetheless, driving P.T. to the shopping mall and similar places. RP 244-245. Up until the date of this purported incident, there had never been any suggestion that Miguel had acted inappropriately around T.P. RP 261.

On April 1, 2013, thirteen year old T.P. was on spring break from school. RP 55.. She had stayed up late watching a movie,

first on the couch in the living room, and then later on the TV located in her room. RP 57, 67. Denise and Miguel had to work that day. RP 246. Denise got up and took a shower, and Miguel went to the kitchen to get coffee. As is often the case, he walked through the house turning off lights that had been left on over night. RP 341. The TV in the living room had been left on, so he turned that off as well. Walking back towards their bedroom he passed by T.P.'s room. The lights and the TV were still on, so he stopped in her room to turn them off. He went into her room while she was sleeping to turn off the lights and TV, something he does almost every day. RP 341. As he was covering her with a blanket, Denise came into the room and began accusing him of touching her daughter. *Id*.

At first, Miguel thought this was some type of April Fools joke. But when he saw that Denise was serious, he tried explaining that he was just covering T.P. up. RP 341-42. As they stepped out of the room, Denise began yelling louder and socked Miguel in the eye. RP 342. She called him a dog, because of all of the times he cheated on her. RP 342.

Denise told the story differently. According to her, after getting out of the shower, she walked past her daughter's bedroom. The door was open and she saw her daughter lying on the bed with her knees up and Miguel's face in her crotch area. RP 250-251. Denise could see that T.P.'s panties were still on. RP 254. According to Denise, Miguel had one leg on the floor and one leg on the bed. Denise yelled, which caused T.P. to wake up. As Miguel stood up, he put a blanket on T.P. RP 256. Denise did not see the blanket until she screamed at him. RP 256. When they stepped out of the room, Miguel told her that he was just covering T.P. up. RP 251. Miguel was wearing boxer shorts and Denise did not notice anything unusual about his appearance. RP 268.

T.P. testified that she was asleep and has no recollection of anything that Miguel was doing or not doing before she woke up to the screaming. RP 68-69. She didn't feel that she was being touched in any way. RP 68. She does remember hearing Miguel and her mom arguing. She specifically recalled Miguel saying that he did not do anything, that he was just covering her up. RP 74-75.

The police were called and took statements from everyone. Miguel told the police the same thing he told Denise, that he was just putting a blanket on T.P. RP 129-130. As part of the initial investigation, the police had T.P. go into the bathroom and take off

the panties she was wearing. The underwear she brought back out was somewhat wet in the crotch area. RP 50-51.

Charges were not filed until many months later. The defense theory was that Denise was angry with Miguel as a result of his continued infidelity, and that she made up this story as a means of taking revenge. RP 31, 234. Given that most people who are angry or jealous do not take such extreme actions, it was incumbent upon the defense to show that Denise's rage and jealousy was much greater than in the typical case. To that end, the defense sought to cross examine Denise about how two weeks prior to this incident, Denise used a GPS tracker to locate Miguel at the house of another woman, where she then confronted Miguel and punched him. RP 30-32, 235. The defense also wanted to cross-examine Denise on other instances of her rage and assaults on Miguel sparked by his constant cheating. In addition to addressing these issues in cross examination, the defense was prepared to call in a rebuttal witness to establish these facts in the event it was necessary to do so. RP 30-32, 234-240.

The prosecutor objected to evidence of the assaultive behavior and the tracking device, arguing that neither the assaults nor the tracking was relevant to the issue of bias. The judge granted the State's motion to exclude this evidence. The court said that defense counsel could ask questions about whether she was angry over affairs from the previous eight months, but could not bring in specific acts: "As far as specific incidents, this gets into more of the domestic affairs of people that can be outside the scope of what we're concerned with here. So a specific incident as to GPS, a tracking and so on, I would exclude." RP 240.

The defense also sought to question Denise about her Facebook entries, in which she expressed a desire to assist another person in going after Miguel in court. RP 30-32, 237. In not allowing questions about the Facebook entry, the judge stated that because the entries were made after the April 1, 2013 incident, the entries would not be relevant to Denise bias. RP 240-241. The court also stated that because the Facebook entries had not been previously disclosed, Denise could not be questioned about them.

As a result of these limitations, when Denise testified, she was able to downplay the significance of her anger. According to Denise, Miguel's cheating had made her angry, but "we had patched things up and things were going great." RP 266. Denise

stated that their relationship for the previous eight months had been going well. RP 245.

In addition to Denise's testimony, the State relied upon DNA evidence. Lab results showed small amounts of Miguel's DNA on T.P.'s inner thigh, panties, and vagina area. RP 218. The question for the jury was if Miguel did not have sexual contact with T.P., then how did the DNA end up there? In order to answer that question, the defense sought to introduce evidence of a vibrator that Miguel and Denise used almost every time they had sex. RP 352. This vibrator was located in the top drawer next to their bed. Id. The defense theory is that T.P. used her mom's vibrator. Miguel recalled Denise talking about how the vibrator and lubricant were missing one day. RP 352. The defense also believed it was quite possible the police or the mom could have used the vibrator to obtained a sample of his DNA. RP 8, 353-354. Consistent with those theories, the State's expert agreed that DNA could be transferred from one object to another thing or person. Further, there would be no means of determining how the transfer occurred, but only that it had occurred. RP 227-229.

The judge excluded this evidence. According to the judge, the foundation for the evidence was Denise's statement that the vi-

brator was missing one day, and that because this statement was hearsay, the defense could not lay the necessary foundation. RP 355. Thus, the defense was not allowed to present facts establishing an alternative explanation for the presence of the DNA. The prosecutor relied upon the DNA evidence in closing. See e.g., RP 416, 462.

When Miguel was on the stand, he testified that Denise frequently became angry over his affairs and assaulted him. RP 347. The prosecutor objected and the court sustained the objection. A moment later, Miguel tried describing Denise's violent responses when he either told her or she found out about his cheating. RP 348. This time the court asked the jury to step out and addressed the issue again with the parties. The court stated, "But anything having to do with somebody hitting or striking or taking specific actions, it was the Court's intent by our previous conversation by this to exclude this as not relevant and prejudicial." RP 350. Furthermore, "specific acts of conduct are excluded by the rules of evidence in the impeachment of a witness." RP 350. The court additionally held that questions as to Denise's anger over the affairs should be limited to an eight- month period. RP 351. Accordingly, defense counsel instructed his client: "So Mr. Albarran, remember the Judge said, don't use – don't bring up any incidents of the violence in terms of being hit." RP 355. Miguel said he understood. After successfully excluding Denise's specific acts of domestic violence, including a witness who could have testified to that violence, the defense was left with just the general statement that Denise had struck Miguel in the past. The State took advantage of that ruling by calling a CPS caseworker as a rebuttal witness. That caseworker had previously spoken with Miguel on the telephone, during which time Miguel had denied a history of domestic violence. RP 372. In closing, the prosecutor cited to the CPS testimony as proof that Miguel "lied" about Denise's rages. RP 425-26.

III. ARGUMENT

- THE COURT VIOLATED APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION WHEN IT PREVENTED THE DEFENSE FROM INTRODUCING SPECIFIC ACTS DEMONSTRATING A KEY WITNESS'S MOTIVE AND BIAS.
 - a. The Sixth Amendment requires an opportunity to cross-examine a witness as to motive and bias.

Denise was the only witness against Miguel who claimed to have first hand knowledge of his actions. T.P. was asleep, and the police merely took statements from the witnesses. The defense plan was to establish through cross examination Denise's motive to

fabricate and her bias against Miguel. The evidence would focus upon her rage and jealousy over Miguel's affairs with other women. The defense intended to show that Denise used a GPS tracker to follow Miguel to another woman's house, and that she then punched him in front of that woman. The defense intended to present evidence of other instances of jealousy and assaults perpetrated by Denise upon the defendant, as well as cross examine Denise about entries on her Facebook page in which she offered to help one of Miguel's girlfriends get Miguel in trouble. But on the day of trial, the court prevented the defense from cross-examining Denise as to the specific acts that established her motive to fabricate. This was reversible error.

"A trial court's denial of a criminal defendant's right to adequately cross-examine an essential state witness as to relevant matters tending to establish bias or motive will violate the Sixth Amendment right of confrontation." Robert H. Aronson, The Law of Evidence in Washington, Sec. 607.042(2) (4th ed. 2005). Accordingly, a defendant "should be given great latitude in the cross-examination of prosecution witnesses to show motive or credibility." *State v. Roberts*, 25 Wn. App. 830, 834, 611 P.2d 1297 (1980).

A defendant is entitled to confront the witnesses against him with bias evidence when the evidence is at least minimally relevant. State v. Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d 1, 16, 659 P.2d 514 (1983). "Bias includes that which exists at the time of trial, for the very purpose of impeachment is to provide information that the jury can use, during deliberations, to test the witness' accuracy while the witness was testifying." State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 752-753, 202 P.3d 937 (2009); quoting, State v. Dolan, 118 Wn. App. 323, 327-328, 73 P.3d 1011 (2003). The defendant is granted more "latitude to expose the bias of a key witness." Fisher, 165 Wn.2d at 752-753, citing, State v. Darden, 145 Wn.2d 612, 619, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002). Violations of the state and federal confrontation clauses are reviewed de novo. State v. Medina, 112 Wn. App. 40, 48, 48 P.3d 1005 (2002).

By its very nature, evidence of bias is always relevant to discredit the witness and to help the jury weigh the testimony. *Davis v. Alaska*, 415 U.S. 308, 316, 94 S. Ct. 1105, 39 L. Ed. 2d 347 (1974). In *Davis*, the primary witness was a teenager living near the defendant. The witness was on probation for a prior criminal offense. The defense sought to introduce that fact in support of the theory that the witness was acting out of fear his probation might be re-

voked if he did not incriminate Mr. Davis. *Id.* at 310-311. The trial court barred reference to the witness's probation status. The defendant was convicted. The Alaska Supreme Court affirmed the conviction, holding that despite the limitations on cross-examination, the defendant was permitted to sufficiently develop the issue of bias.

The United States Supreme Court disagreed and reversed the conviction. The Court explained, "The partiality of a witness is subject to exploration at trial, and is 'always relevant as discrediting the witness and affecting the weight of his testimony." *Davis* at 316 (quoting 3A J. Wigmore, Evidence sec 940, pg. 775 (1970)).

b. A defendant is entitled to introduce specific facts exposing a witness's motive and bias.

"The right of cross-examination allows more than the asking of general questions concerning bias; it guarantees an opportunity to show specific reasons why a witness might be biased in a particular case." *State v. Brooks*, 25 Wn. App. 550, 551-552, 611 P.2d 1274 (1980). In our case, the only way in which the defense could attack Denise's credibility was with specific, concrete facts. It is one thing for the defense to say that Denise was a jealous person, who was angry with Miguel for his repeated infidelities. It is another to show that her jealousy and rage were great enough to cause her

to frame Miguel for a crime he did not commit. After all, most jurors have probably experienced some feelings of anger or jealousy, yet would never consider falsely accusing someone of a crime. Only by showing Denise's specific actions—the use of a GPS tracker, showing up at another woman's house, assaulting Miguel in front of others—could the jury begin to understand the extent of Denise's rage and jealousy. Without exposing those facts to the jury, the defense could not adequately convey the intensity of Denise's feelings toward Miguel.

The trial court's exclusion of specific facts relating to bias in cross examination is similar to the limitations placed on the defendant in *Davis v. Alaska, supra.* Again, in that case, defense counsel was allowed to ask general questions about bias but could not go into the specific facts establishing that bias. The Court found this to be an unconstitutional limitation on the right to cross examine a witness as to bias:

We cannot accept the Alaska Supreme Court's conclusion that the cross-examination that was permitted defense counsel was adequate to develop the issue of bias properly to the jury. While counsel was permitted to ask Green whether he was biased, counsel was unable to make a record from which to argue why Green might have been biased or otherwise lacked that degree of impartiality expected of a witness at trial. . . . On these facts it seems clear to us that to

make any such inquiry effective, defense counsel should have been permitted to expose to the jury the facts from which jurors, as the sole triers of fact and credibility, could appropriately draw inferences relating to the reliability of the witness.

Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. at 318 (emphasis added). Similarly, Miguel was entitled to expose to the jury those facts from which the jurors could appropriately draw inferences regarding Denise's motive and credibility.

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