NO. 46162-5-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

MIGUEL ANGEL ALBARRAN, Appellant

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO.13-1-01301-1

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK Prosecuting Attorney Clark County, Washington

ANNE M. CRUSER, WSBA #27944 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney 1013 Franklin Street PO Box 5000 Vancouver WA 98666-5000 Telephone (360) 397-2261

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

Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 295, 93 S.Ct. 1038 (1973); State v. Robbins, 35 Wn.2d 389, 396, 213 P.2d 310 (1950) ("Where the right [to

cross-examination] is not altogether denied, the scope or extent of cross-examination for the purpose of showing bias rests in the sound discretion of the trial court."). Further, the trial court may limit "the extent to which defense counsel may delve into the witness' alleged bias 'based on concerns about, among other things, harassment, prejudice, confusion of the issues, the witness' safety, or *interrogation that is repetitive or only marginally relevant.*" *State v. Fisher*, 165 Wn.2d 727, 752, 202 P.3d 937 (2009) (emphasis added) (quoting *Delaware v. Van Arsdall*, 475 U.S. 673, 679, 106 S.Ct. 1431, 89 L.Ed.2d 674 (1986)). The Supreme Court has stated:

Although the law allows cross-examination into matters which will affect the credibility of a witness by showing bias, ill will, interest or corruption . . . the evidence sought to be elicited must be material and relevant to the matters sought to be proved and specific enough to be free from vagueness; otherwise, all manner of argumentative and speculative evidence will be adduced.

State v. Jones, 67 Wn.2d 506, 512, 408 P.2d 247 (1965). Consequently, where a defendant's "offer of proof refer[s] to no specific acts, conduct or statements on the part of the witness, but vaguely tending to show bias in the most indefinite and speculative way," it would be "too remote to meet the purpose for which it was offered, and [a] trial court [could] properly h[o]ld it to be immaterial and irrelevant." *Id.* Simply put, "[t]here is no

right, constitutional or otherwise, to have irrelevant evidence admitted." *Darden*, 145 Wn.2d at 624.

Here, the proffered evidence was vague and collateral. In his offer of proof, the defendant's assertion that Ms. Domke placed a tracker on his phone was based on his vague claim that when he tried to call his other girlfriends, he was unable to do so and he took his phone to the Verizon store to find out why. RP 235. There, he was told that he couldn't make his calls because "somebody[] put a GPS thing on here and it won't let you make calls from this." RP 235. On that anemic offer of proof, Albarran sought to cross examine Ms. Domke on this alleged misconduct and introduce this spurious allegation to the jury. But the offer of proof was insufficient to allow cross examination on this allegation. Moreover, the allegation, even if true, did not establish bias of the witness. "Bias" is defined as "Inclination; prejudice; predilection." BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY, 171 (8th ed. 2004). While all parties agreed that Albarran's infidelity was a proper area of cross examination because it might reveal ongoing anger or hurt on Ms. Domke's part, which could tend to show bias, the specific alleged act of placing a tracking application on Albarran's phone did not show bias. The act was collateral, and would have misled the jury and unduly prejudiced the State. It was also cumulative of the evidence tending to show that Ms. Domke was angry at

Albarran over his infidelity. Likewise, the allegation that Ms. Domke had assaulted Albarran on this occasion did not tend to show bias. It would have cast Ms. Domke in a poor light with respect to her general character and been very prejudicial to the State's ability to receive a fair trial.

When a defendant offers extrinsic evidence that only has an indirect bearing on the bias or prejudice of a witness the trial court can exclude that evidence under the rule that extrinsic evidence cannot be used to impeach a witness on collateral issues, State v. Carlson, 61 Wn.App. 865, 876, 812 P.2d 536 (1991). "A trial court may, in its discretion, reject cross-examination where the circumstances only remotely tend to show bias or prejudice of the witness, where the evidence is vague, or where the evidence is merely argumentative and speculative." State v. Classen, 143 Wn.App. 45, 59, 176 P.3d 582 (2008); *Knapp*, supra, at 107-08. It is worth noting that Albarran overstates the importance of Ms. Domke's testimony. Although T.P. was asleep during the rape, she woke up to her mother screaming at what she witnessed. T.P. testified about the very authentic response of a mother witnessing the sexual assault of her child. Further, the defendant nullified his tardy claims of having been the victim of the jealous Ms. Domke when he told the police that everything had been fine between him and Ms. Domke in the preceding eight months (corroborating what Ms. Domke said), and when he told the police that his prior

infidelities had nothing to do with Ms. Domke's accusation against him. Finally, the DNA found on T.P.'s inner thigh and underwear, which included not just Albarran's semen but his saliva, established his guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. The trial court did not err in limiting the scope of cross examination to those matters germane to the case.

As to the alleged Facebook entry, the court was never provided with this evidence to review in an offer of proof. It did not exist. The court advised defense counsel that it couldn't evaluate his request without seeing the actual Facebook entry and counsel failed to produce it (in spite of the court's order that he do so). RP 240-41. The court correctly precluded cross examination on an alleged Facebook post, the existence of which Albarran could not prove. Additionally, the court correctly held that the non-existent Facebook post was irrelevant because it occurred after the rape. It would not, as Albarran claimed, show that Ms. Domke planned to frame Albarran for rape in advance of the incident. Even if the Facebook post, assuming it truly existed¹, could be arguably deemed relevant, Albarran's wholesale failure to produce it precludes a finding, at this stage, that the trial court abused its discretion in precluding cross

¹ The State is not referring to the Facebook exchange that was tardily produced and referenced at pages 356-57 of the verbatim report of proceedings. That exchange, which was evidently heavily edited, did not purport to show what Albarran claimed it would show. Defense counsel apparently agreed with the prosecutor's representation of what the exchange said.

examination about it. *State v. Knapp*, supra, is instructive here as well. In *Knapp*, supra, the defendant sought to cross examine his brother about his brother having encouraged him on two prior occasions to commit crimes with him (the brother). Knapp argued that this testimony would bolster his theory of the case that his brother wanted to put him in jail. *Knapp* at 108. The Court of Appeals affirmed the exclusion of this evidence:

The trial court ruled that the attempts to persuade Kenneth to commit these crimes were too remote to show bias because it was not shown that Clarence was going to lay a trap for Kenneth, such as contacting law enforcement officers once Kenneth agreed to commit the crimes. We believe that it was well within the discretion of the trial court to reject this cross-examination because, as the court stated, the evidence was too remote, and was also too vague, argumentative and speculative.

Knapp at 108-09.

Similarly here, the post-rape Facebook post, even assuming it existed and said what Albarran claimed it said, did not reveal a plot on Ms. Domke's part to frame Albarran for this crime in advance. The trial court did not abuse its considerable discretion in limiting the scope of cross examination on this subject.

Even if the court erred, the error was harmless. Assuming, without necessarily agreeing, that this Court should review this claim under the constitutional harmless error test, the error was harmless beyond a

reasonable doubt.² "A constitutional error is harmless if the appellate court is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable jury would have reached the same result in the absence of the error." *State v. Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d 412, 425, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985). The State bears the burden of proving that the error was harmless. *Id.* The State will meet this burden by showing that the overwhelming untainted evidence is so overwhelming that it necessarily leads to a finding of guilt. *Id.* at 426. Reiterating the argument from above, Ms. Domke's testimony about what she saw that morning, combined with her authentically horrified response as related by T.P., as well as the defendant's own inculpatory statements and the DNA evidence, constituted overwhelming untainted evidence of Albarran's guilt. The court's decision, if error, was harmless.

² In State v. Turnipseed, 162 Wn.App. 60, 69, 255 P.3d 843 (2011), the Court of Appeals said:

It is well established that a trial court that limits cross-examination through evidentiary rulings as the examination unfolds does not violate a defendant's Sixth Amendment rights unless its restrictions on examination "effectively ... emasculate the right of cross-examination itself." Generally speaking, the confrontation clause guarantees an opportunity for effective cross-examination, not cross-examination that is effective in whatever way, and to whatever extent, the defense might wish.

State v. Turnipseed, 162 Wn.App. 60, 69, 255 P.3d 843, 848 (2011), as amended (June 9, 2011) (Internal citations omitted).

Thus, it is not clear that the constitutional harmless error standard is the correct standard. Nevertheless, the State submits that the error was harmless under either the constitutional error or non-constitutional error harmlessness test.

II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN EXCLUDING PREJUDICIAL AND INADMISSIBLE HEARSAY.

Here, the trial court correctly ruled that Albarran should not be allowed to testify about a hearsay statement in which Ms. Domke supposedly told him that a sex toy that she jointly used with Albarran was missing from her drawer, and a separate hearsay statement in which Ms. Domke supposedly told him that she allowed T.P. to use the sex toy. Albarran argues that the admission of this statement would have necessarily led to the conclusion that it was T.P. who took the sex toy. That, he argues, would have then necessarily led to the conclusion that T.P. used the sex toy. That, he argues, would have then necessarily led to the conclusion that the sex toy was the source of Albarran's semen on T.P.'s underwear. It is worth noting at the outset that Albarran wanted to admit this evidence through his own testimony rather than by cross examining Ms. Domke. The inference to be drawn from that is that Ms. Domke would have denied making such a statement.

The court correctly disallowed the admission of this hearsay statement for which no exception existed to justify its admission. "A defendant in a criminal case has a constitutional right to present a defense consisting of relevant evidence that is not otherwise inadmissible." *State v. Rehak*, 67 Wn.App. 157, 162, 834 P.2d 651 (1992); *State v. Austin*, 59

Wn.App. 186, 194, 796 P.2d 746 (1990); citing *Taylor v. Illinois*, 484 U.S. 400, 404-10, 108 S.Ct. 646 (1988). The constitutional right to present a defense is not unfettered. *State v. Strizheus*, 163 Wn.App. 820, 830, 262 P.3d 100 (2011). A defendant has no right to present irrelevant or inadmissible evidence. *Strizheus* at 830, *State v. Jones*, 168 Wn.2d 713, 720, 230 P.3d 576 (2010). Here, the proffered evidence was both inadmissible and irrelevant. The evidence was inadmissible because it was an out of court statement offered for the truth of the matter asserted, and no recognized exception would have allowed its admission.

The evidence was irrelevant because it was inflammatory, it served to besmirch the victim without a proper factual basis, and because it would have confused the jury. Albarran does not tell us how this evidence would have helped him where, even if his ridiculous story about the thirteen year-old victim using her mother's sex toy were true, it would not explain why T.P.'s underwear was wet that morning, would not explain how Albarran's saliva got on T.P.'s inner left thigh, and would not explain how Albarran's saliva got on T.P.'s underwear. The sex toy would presumably have semen on it, not saliva. Albarran also does not explain why Ms. Domke's DNA was wholly absent from any of the samples collected from T.P.'s body. Again, Albarran's theory was that T.P. stole a sex toy that was *jointly used* by him and Ms. Domke. How is it, then, that only

Albarran's and T.P.'s DNA was present on these samples? The mixture samples were a mixture of the victim and a person who is 6.6 million times more likely to be Albarran than anyone else on the inner left thigh sample, and 210 trillion times more likely to be Albarran than anyone else on Sample A of the underwear samples. Where was the unknown third party in this mixture who was presumably Ms. Domke? The evidence was not relevant under ER 402 because Albarran's sex toy theory was incredible.³ And even if some measure of relevance could be shown, the proffered evidence was inadmissible under ER 403 because the minimal probative value of this evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, and misleading of the jury.⁴

Nevertheless, Albarran claims not only that the trial court erred, but that the error resulted in the denial of his constitutional right to present a defense. In general, decision to exclude evidence or testimony is within

All relevant evidence is admissible, except as limited by constitutional requirements or as otherwise provide by statute, by these rules, of by other rules and regulations applicable in the courts of this state. Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible.

Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.

³ ER 402 provides:

⁴ ER 403 provides:

the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be grounds for reversal absent a showing that discretion was abused. State v. Darden, 145 Wn,2d 612, 619, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002); State v. Strizheus, 163 Wn.App. 820, 829, 262 P.3d 100 (2011). In State v. Rehak, 67 Wn.App. 157, 163, 834 P.2d 651 (1992), Division II of the Court of Appeals considered a claim that the defendant had been denied his constitutional right to present a defense when the trial court disallowed the defendant from introducing evidence that her son may have committed the murder. The Court reviewed the claim for abuse of discretion. Rehak at 163. However, Division I of the Court of Appeals, relying on State v. Iniguez, 167 Wn, 2d 273, 217 P.3d 768 (2009), instead recently held that whether a defendant has been denied his constitutional right to present a defense by way of exclusion of evidence is reviewed de novo. State v. Strizheus, supra, at 829. In Iniguez, the Supreme Court said that even where the underlying decision is one that lies within the discretion of the trial court (such as whether to grant a continuance or admit evidence), if the decision results in the denial of a constitutional right of the defendant, the claim of denial is reviewed de novo. Iniguez at 280. It would seem, then, that the manner in which the defendant elects to frame the issue, even if clearly erroneous, controls the standard of review he enjoys.

In this case, Albarran has not shown that he was denied his constitutional right to present a defense. Not only was the evidence inadmissible and irrelevant, but it did not prevent Albarran from presenting his theory of the case, which was that Ms. Domke did not witness what she claimed to have witnessed and lied about the incident out of spite. Albarran's theory that Ms. Domke fabricated this story conflicted with his proposed theory that his DNA was transferred to T.P.'s underwear innocently as a result of T.P.'s actions. In setting out to get Albarran in trouble with this concocted story, did Ms. Domke know that T.P. inadvertently transferred Albarran's DNA to her underwear by her alleged use of the sex toy—a necessary component of the frame-up? Is Ms. Domke just that lucky? Because Albarran has not shown that his constitutional right to present a defense was abridged, this Court should review the trial court's decision not to allow this testimony under the abuse of discretion standard and, if error is found, apply the nonconstitutional harmless error test. See *State v. Anderson*, 112 Wn.App. 828, 837, 51 P.3d 179 (2002) (Where defendant did not meet his burden of showing the denial of his right to present a defense, Court applied nonconstitutional harmless error test). Under the non-constitutional harmless error test, an error is "not prejudicial unless, within reasonable probabilities, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected

had the error not occurred." *Anderson* at 837, quoting *State v. Bourgeois*, 133 Wn.2d 389, 403, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997).

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